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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA
DANVILLE DIVISION

MURRILL L. MCLEAN, )
) 4:10CVv00019
Haintiff, )
)
2 ) MEMORANDUM OPINION
)
PHILIP A. BROADFOOT, )
Chief of Police of the City )
of Danville, ) By:Jacksori. Kiser
) SenioiJnited StateDistrict Judge
Defendant. )

Before me is a Motion for Summary Judgment filed on Mafteoa11 by Defendant
Philip Broadfoot, who is the Chief of the DangilPolice Department. Mot. for Summ. J., Mar.
4, 2011, ECF No. 12; Def.’s Br. in Supp., Mdr.2011, ECF No. 13. Under the Scheduling
Order issued in this case, the Plaintiff, iMiiMcLean, had fourteen days to submit his
response. Pretrial Order 2, June 30, 2010, BGF5 (providing that, “[b]riefs in opposition
must be filed within 14 days of thetdeaof service of the movant’s briefEXCEPT FOR
GOOD CAUSE SHOWN, IF BRIEFSIN OPPOSITION TO THE MOTIONS ARE NOT
FIELD,IT WILL BE DEEMED THAT THE MOTION ISWELL TAKEN?”") (bold text and
capital letters in the original). Twenty-four ddgger, the Plaintiff filed a Motion for Extension
of Time to Respond and a Proposed Response. Mot. for Extension, Mar. 28, 2011, ECF No. 16.
Unfortunately, everything beyond the first twages of the eight page Proposed Response
concerned another case with whielaintiff’'s counsel is involved the Eastern District of
Virginia. SeeProposed Resp. 3-8, Mar. 28, 2011, ECEF N&1. Furthermore, the Plaintiff
never noticed his Motion for an Extension ofmEi for a hearing despite being reminded to do so

by the Clerk’s Office. The Scheduling Order pdrsg that “[i]t shall be the obligation of the
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moving party to bring the motion dar hearing by notice.” Pretri®rder 2. Over the next two
days, the Defendant filed two Responses in Ogipago the Plaintiff's Motion for an Extension
of Time. Def.’s Resp. in Opp’n I, Mar. 29, 2011, ECF No. 19; Def.’s Resp. in Opp’'n Il, Mar. 30,
2011, ECF No. 20. It was not until Aprit'Ififteen days beyond the fourteen day deadline, that
the Plaintiff submitted a meaningful Respon&®.’s Resp., Apr. 1, 2011, ECF No. 21-1. Along
with that second Response, Plaintiff's coelrsubmitted a Reply to the Defendant’s two
Responses in Opposition. Pl.’s Reply, Apr. 1, 2011, ECF No. 21. On ‘M@;am the Court
held a hearing on both the Defendant’s Motfor Summary Judgment and the Plaintiff's
Motions for an Extension of Time. Ftire reasons explained herein, the CEGRANTS the
Plaintiff's Motions for an Extension of Time, bdHtOL DS Plaintiff’'s counseln civil contempt
for his two violations of the Scheduling Order aMIPOSES A FINE of FIVE HUNDRED
DOLLARS upon Plaintiff's counsel. The Court furth@RANTS the Defendant’s Motion for
Summary Judgment ondlTitle VII claim andDECLINES to exercise supplemental jurisdiction
over the Plaintiff's Virginia Human Rights Act claim.
FACTS

This case arises out of a centious police shooting incidetitat occurred in the summer
of 2009. Compl. 2-3, May 21, 2010, ECF No.The parties agree that on Juffe 83009,
Officer Murrill McLean, the Plaintiff, wasteempting to serve warrants at a house in north
Danville. Compl. 2; Answer 1, June 30, 2010,Aad0. 4. While doing so, the Plaintiff was
approached by a dachshund that had a histaaytat¢king people in theommunity. Compl. 2;
Answer 2. The Plaintiff admits that, in light of the dog’s aggressive behavior, he shot the
dachshund. Compl. 2; Aff. of Def. 5, Ma, 2011, ECF No. 13-1. An investigation ensued

amid rising tension and controvgrsCompl. 3; Answer 2. The Bendant initially supported the



Plaintiff, but later changed his position and dhiat the Plaintiff had acted improperly. Compl.
3; Aff. of Def. 3-5. On July %, 2009, the Defendant suspended the Plaintiff with pay and put
him on notice of his intent to terminate him.lyJi Letter, Mar. 4, 2011, ECF No. 13-4. On July
10", 2009, the Defendant terminated the Plaintiting that the Plaintiff's “accounts of the
event are factually incorrect and misleadingtidnis “reasoning for using deadly force was
based on [an] overwhelming fearadntracting rabies,” which finpairs [his] ability to make
sound judgments.” July 10 Letter, Mar. 4, 2011 FEB®. 13-5; Compl. 3. It is the details of
these incidents over which the two sides disagree.

The first and most major disagreeminover what, exactly, happened on Jufiéns
north Danville. According to the Plaintifivhile attempting to serve warrants, he “was
approached by a vicious dog from an adjacentedray.” Aff. of Pl., Mar. 28, 2011, ECF No.
16-2; Compl. 2. The Plaintiff made verbatleshpts to scare the dog away, whereupon “the dog
lunged to attack [him].” Aff. of Pl. 2; Comp2. The dog apparently “lunged at [him] a second
time,” prompting the Plaintiff to shoot the dabhsad. Aff. of Pl. 2; Compl. 2. The Defendant
demands strict proof of the Plaintgfversion of events. Answer 2.

In his affidavit, the Defendant provides raaletails about the findings made during the
course of the investigationmmediately after the shootingghPlaintiff's two supervisors,
Lieutenant Eanes and Corporal Chivvis, came écsttene. Aff. of PR. The Plaintiff was
instructed to prepare a reportwatiat occurred and Lieutenant Eanes was told to take pictures of
the scene. _IdThe Plaintiff’s first statement indicatdsat he “pulled into the driveway at the
residence and noticed a dog badkin the driveway.” Pl.’s st Incident Report, Mar. 4, 2011,
ECF No. 13-2. The Plaintiff went to the fraddor of the house, no one answered, at which time

the Plaintiff avers:



... turned to go back to my vehicl&he dog ran up behind me growling and

lunged as | turned to leave. | felt @ntthat if | had heitated for a moment

the dog would have attacked and would hlagen too close to me to shoot. |

barely had time to draw my weapon dind hitting the animaét the foot of

the steps approximately 2 to 3 feet fram. It spun once or twice then ran to

the side of [the residence] where it died.
1d. The pictures taken by Lieutenant Eafi@epicted a dead dachshund lying on the ground
near three wooden steps.” Aff. of Def. Bhere was no blood on these wooden steps, which

were located at the side of the residence atid.

Two days later, on June 0both the Plaintiff and another one of his supervisors,
Captain Jones, were asked to writéaded reports about the shooting. &i.2. In that second
report the Plaintiff states thdte dog was in the neighbor’s driveway when he arrived, not the
driveway of the residence where he was attemptiregrve the warrants. Pl.’s Second Incident
Report, Mar. 4, 2011, ECF No. 13-3. Upon arrivad, Blaintiff alleges that the following events
took place:

| went up 3 stairs to the front porakihich has trees on bosides of it and

knocked on the front door. After waitirgfew minutes | decided to leave,

then from behind me as | turned | heard the growling of a dog at the foot of the

steps, the animal showed his teahd hunkered down, | was boxed in, the

door | was knocking on was behind me ahdw three feet to the left of me

another door and wall. While still stding at the door on éhporch that was

only 6 feet wide, | told it to “get” andl lunged forward towards me to attack.

| had my metal clipboardiith warrants in my left hand and had only seconds

to un-holster. The dog was only two toee feet from me at this time and it

started to lunge towards me anfitéd one shot hitting the animal.
Id. Captain Jones also interviesvthe Plaintiff and prepared goaat for the Defendant. Aff. of
Def. 3. The next day, on June™ the Defendant returned froafew days’ vacation and spoke
with the Plaintiff by telephone and rewed Captain Jones’ report. I8ased on the

aforementioned two sources, the Defendant beliévatcthe Plaintiff “wadrapped and had very

little time to react,” prompting him to shootetlog on the residence’s wooden side steps. Id.



The Defendant even admits that “[b]ased amittiormation provided to me at the time, |
publicly supported [the Plaintiff] and his actions.” [@he Plaintiff contendthat, at this point,
the internal investigation ended with the doson that he “had acted properly in defending
[him]self against an attack by acious dog.” Aff. of Pl. 2. lappears that the Plaintiff would
characterize anything beyond tipisint as “continuous questioningnly to look for a pretext to
fire [the Plaintiff].” Pl.’s Resp. 5, Apr. 2011, ECF No. 21-1. Whether this difference in

labeling creates a genuine issue of makéact is another matter. S¥éards Co., Inc. v.

Stamford Ridgeway Asso¢g.61 F.2d 117, 210 (2d Cir. 1985]dlontorted semanticism must

not be permitted to create an issue where none exists”); Kinsey v. Cendan6€bip.Supp.2d
292, 306 (S.D.N.Y. 2007) (semantlstinction was insufficient toreate a genuine issue of

material fact); Harmon v. Baltimore and Ohio R. G&0 F.Supp. 914, 916 (D.D.C. 1983)

(same).

Later in the day on June%,1the Defendant learned from news stories that there was
blood on the porch steps of the house at whielsttooting occurred. Aff. of Def. 3. The
Defendant found this odd, sinceethictures taken by Lieutendganes showed no sign of blood
on the wooden side steps. [dhis also seemed to contradioe Plaintiff’s first report, in which
the Plaintiff averred that he “fire[d] hitting theiaral at the foot of the steps approximately 2 to
3 feet from [him].” PI.’s First Incident ReporPerplexed, the Defendavisited the residence
the next day, June T2 Aff. of Def. 3. It was at thifime that the Defendant saw that the
residence had two sets of staose in front with six brick stepsnd one on the side with three
wooden steps. 1dThe Defendant began to have gquestiabout where the shooting actually
occurred at this point, but appatly was unable to meet withdHPlaintiff, who was out of the

office on National Guard training. ldt 4; Aff. of PI. 2.



The Defendant met with the Plaintiff on Jund'24d “specifically sught to clarify the
location where the shooting had oaewl.” Aff. of Def. 4. The Rintiff told the Defendant that
the shooting happened at the front brick stapsthe side wooden steps, as the Defendant
originally thought. _Id. The Defendant then returned te tlesidence and spoke with the owner,
who showed the Defendant the blood on the kiwseep of the front brick steps. |IThe
Defendant concluded that the Plaintiff had mgpace between him and the dog than he reported
and that this increased space “offered more tinassess the situation and attempt to diffuse the
situation without employing deadly force.” Id.

The next day, on June 250fficer Brown went to the residence with a crime scene
officer on the Defendant’s orders. Ht.5. Officer Brown and the crime scene officer measured
the area and took photographs, “which furthgapsuted our conclusions of June 24, 2009 that
[the Plaintiff] had more time to assess theaitan and determine a moappropriate means of
response than initially reported.”_I@®fficer Brown also intervieed the Plaintiff a few days
later, on July . Id. The Plaintiff apparently gave Offr Brown two inconsistent accounts of
what happened back on Jurl® 8d. At the culmination of ki investigation, Officer Brown
determined that the Defendant “used poor judgnmetite decision to shodhe dog” and that the
Plaintiff's series of statemé&nwere inconsistent. 1dOfficer Brown reported these findings to
the Defendant and recommended thatPhaintiff be terminated. ldThe Defendant “likewise
concluded that terminating [tH8aintiff] was appropriate beaae [his] accounts of the event
were factually incorrect and misleading angl tverwhelming fear of contracting rabies
interfered with his allity to make sound judgments with regard to the use of force.” Id.

Along with the Plaintiff's first attempb respond to the Defendant’s Motion for

Summary Judgment, which waseifsten days beyond the deadline, the Plaintiff included an



affidavit. The bulk of the Plaintiff's affidavit g@ars to have been copied and pasted from the
Complaint._Comparéff. of Pl. 2-3 (paragraphs 6-16) witbompl. 2-3 (paragraphs 8-18).
Interestingly, the Plaintiff does not dispute in &fBdavit that he gave misleading information to
the Defendant during the coursetloé investigation. The Pldiff's affidavit also fails to
address distance and time to react, key isstesh the Defendant disssed at length in his
affidavit. Aff. of Def. 3-5. In the Platiff's second Response to the Defendant’s Motion for
Summary Judgment, filed twentyre days after the Defendanhotion, the Plaintiff asserts
that the primary material fact sispute is “whetheplaintiff made inconstent statements during
the investigation into #gncomplaint of his shooting of tli®g.” Pl.’s Resp. 3. The Plaintiff
further avers that “[tlhe allegat that plaintiff made inconsistestatements was a pretext.” Id.
This is the extent of the Plaintiff's refutatiofthe Defendant’s alleggan that the Plaintiff
misled him and his investigators during th&ernal investigation following the shooting.

Although the Plaintiff does not rebut thefBredant’s sworn statement that he gave
misleading information during thevastigation, he notes that “[njewbefore in the history of
the City of Danville Police Department has ana#fibeen terminated after being cleared of any
wrongdoing by the Defendant.” Afbf PI. 2. The Plaintiff furtheavers that “[n]o action was
taken against Lieutenant Eanesen though [the Defelant] found his report to be erroneous”
and points out that LieutenaEanes is white. IdIn his affidavit, theDefendant insists that he
has terminated six Police Department employeelying during the course of an internal
investigation since becoming chief in May 2003 f. &f Def. 7. The Defendant further avers
that:

In several of [these] incidents...whithe conduct itself may not have been

egregious on its own, and may have amedyulted in a reprimand or time off
without pay had the employee been faght about his/her conduct, the fact



that the employee gave false informatduring the course of an internal
investigation or tried thide the conduct, led thhe employee’s termination.

Id. The Defendant has also provideopies of various Police Depawnt regulations, its code of
ethics, and its reasons for discipline and désali. Use of Force Policy, Mar. 4, 2011, ECF No.
13-6; Regulations, Mar. 4. 2011, EGlo. 13-7; Code of Ethics, Mar. 4, 2011, ECF No. 13-8;
Reasons for Discipline and Dismissal, Mar2@11, ECF No. 13-9. All of these documents were
either signed by the Plaintiff or provide that the Plaintiff, as an officer, is obligated to familiarize
himself with them. Use of Force Policy 7;dréations 4; Code of Ethics 1; Reasons for
Discipline and Dismissal 1. According to the Defendant, it was the Plaintiff's poor judgment
and lack of candor that resultedhis discharge. Aff. of De6. The Plaintiff, by contrast,
alleges that the Defendant’s “decision to teate my employment was not based on evidence,
but based on racial discrimation.” Aff. of PI. 3.

Addressing the merits, the Defendant arghas he is entitled to summary judgment
because he is not the Plaintiff's “employer” withime meaning of Title W, rather the City of
Danville would be the Plaintiff's Title VII “employer.” Def.’s Br. in Supp. 6-7. Furthermore,

the Plaintiff cannot establish a prima facie case under the framework of McDonnell Douglas

Corp. v. Green411 U.S. 792, 802 (1973) because he casimoitv that he was treated less
favorably than disciplined employeesiin outside the protected class. dd8-11. Even if he
did establish a prima facie case, the Defentastarticulated a legitiate, non-discriminatory
reason for dismissing the Plaintiff. lat 11-14. As for any clainexising out of the Virginia
Human Rights Act, the Defendamasserts his argument thatib@ot the Plaintiff's employer
and thus cannot be liable under the Act. altd15-17.

The Plaintiff counters that the Defendanswadeed the Plaintiff’'s employer, since he

was the final decision-makePl.’s Resp. 4. The Plaintiff deaot respond to the Defendant’s



McDonnell Douglas Corghased arguments, but insteaelot to proceed under the Desert

Palace, Inc. v. Costaixed-motive framework in which theadhtiff will have to produce at least

circumstantial evidence that race motecthe adverse employment action. atd4-5; Desert

Palace, Inc. v. Cost&39 U.S. 90 (2003). The Plaintiff akas that he “has put forth, at a

minimum, circumstantial evidence of [the Defiant]'s discriminatory intent and that an
impermissible factor such as race motivatedaitieerse employment action.” Pl.’s Resp. at 4.
The Plaintiff further concedes that the Dedant has proffered a permissible reason for
terminating the Defendant, but allegbat the reason was pretextual. dtl5. Finally, the
Plaintiff argues that by violating Title VII, the Bndant has necessarilysalviolated the state
Human Rights Act._Idat 5.

On the issue of the late filings, in the iaitMotion for an Extension of Time to Respond
the Plaintiff states that he “inadvertentlygldiot note the receipt &iefendant’s Motion for
Summary Judgment.” Mot. féxtension 1. He further submits that his Response alleges no
new facts and that the “Defendant will not be pdéged by the granting of the extension.” Id.
The Defendant argues that it is well settled that inadvertence does not constitute excusable
neglect. Def.’s Resp. in Opp’n | 2. Furthermathe Defendant submits that it would prejudice
him for the Court to allow the Plaintiff tdolate the deadlines when the Defendant has
scrupulously complied with éhScheduling Order._ldt 4. As such, the Pendant asks that his
Motion for Summary Judgnm¢ be deemed well taken, as pided in the Scheduling Order.
Def.’s Resp. in Opp’n Il 1; Pretrial Order 2.

In his Reply, Plaintiff's counsel admitsathhe did not begin preparing his Response to
the Summary Judgment Motion until MarchH™1ine days beyond the deadline. Pl.’s Reply 1.

Plaintiff's counsel contendsadhhis secretary filed the wrgrdocument the next day. lat 2.



Counsel appears to imply thag¢cause Defense counsel msged to his Motion for an

Extension of Time in one day, the defense should have ample time to prepare for the motion
hearing and will not be prejudiced by thaiRtiff's extraordinarily late filing._Id.In mitigation,
when the case was first filed Plaintiff'eunsel was part of a three person firm. Tavo of

those attorneys have since lefuasel’s firm, leaving him with more cases than he can handle.
Id. at 2-3. Compounding counsel’s problem agechities as a state senator, which limit the
amount of time he can devotette practice of law, IdPlaintiff's counsel submits that the
“Plaintiff should not be penalized becauseha transition of hisepresentation.”_ldat 3.

APPLICABLE LAW

Summary judgment is appropieavhere there is no genuirssiuie of material fact and the

movant is entitled to judgmens a matter of law. Fed. R\CP. 56(c);, George & Co. LLC v.

Imagination Entertainment Ltd675 F.3d 383, 392 (4th Cir. 2009Pn a Motion for Summary

Judgment, the facts are taken in the lighstiavorable to theon-moving party, but only
insofar as there is a genuine dispait@ut those facts. Scott v. Har0 U.S. 372, 380 (2007).
The movant has the initial burdefhpointing out to tk Court where the deiency lies in the
non-movants’s case that would make it imposdilMiea reasonable fact-finder to bring in a

verdict in the non-movants’sviar. Celotex Corp. v. Catre#77 U.S. 317, 323 (1986). A

movant-defendant may show that he is entittepildgment as a matter of law by demonstrating
that the non-movant plaintifould not prove an essenteement of his case. ldt 322-23. Itis
then up to the non-movant to demonstrate to therGhat there are genainssues of material

fact and that he has made a sufficient showing on each of the essential elements of his case.

Emmett v. Johnsqrb32 F.3d 291, 297 (4th Cir. 2008);rkle v. City of Clarksburg81 F.3d

416, 421 (4th Cir. 1996). When the movant presiaffidavits and other materials with his

10



Motion for Summary Judgmerthe non-movant must respond with affidavits, deposition
testimony, or as otherwise providedHad. R. Civ. P. 56(c). Celotex Carg77 U.S. at 324;

Pension Ben. Guar. Corp. v. Beverld@4 F.3d 243, 246 (4th Cir. 2005). Mere allegations,

denials, references to the Comptaor oral argument is insuéfient to rebut a movant’s Motion

which is supported by affidavits. Fed. R. G#n.56(e)(2); Berckeley Inv. Group, Ltd. V. Colkitt

455 F.3d 195, 201 (3d Cir. 2006); Beverld94 F.3d at 246. “Evidenceot contentions, avoids

summary judgment.”_Al-Zuhdy v. TEK Industries, In¢.406 F.3d 1030, 1036 (8th Cir. 2005).

See alsdgsoodman v. Nat'l Sec. Agency, In6é21 F.3d 651 (7th Cir. 2010) (“the non-moving

party is required to marshal aptesent the court with the evidence [he] contends will prove [his]

case”);_Sylvia Dev. Corp. v. Calvert Cnt¢8 F.3d 810, 818 (4th Cir. 29) (there is no genuine

issue of material fact “unlesse non-movant’s version isgoorted by sufficient evidence to
permit a reasonable jury to find the fact[s] infaigor”). Merely restatig the allegations in the
Complaint under penalty of perjury, therefore, cannot defembperly supported Motion for

Summary Judgment. Séejan v. Nat'l Wildlife Fed’'n 497 U.S. 871, 888 (1990) (“[t]he object

of [Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e)] is not to replace conctysailegations of the aoplaint or answer with

conclusory allegations of an affidavit”) (citing references omitted); Law Enforcement Alliance of

Am. v. USA Direct, Inc.56 Fed.Appx. 147, 148 (4th Cir. 2003) (“[the nonmoving party’s

evidence must be probative, not merely cditeacannot be conclusory statements...without
specific evidentiary support”) (internal citingfeeences and quotation marks omitted); Fullman
v. Graddick 739 F.2d 553, 557 (11th Cir. 1984) (“mere fieation of a party’s own conclusory

allegations is not sufficient to oppose atimo for summary judgment”); Zigmund v. Fost&é06

F.Supp.2d 352, 356 (D.Conn. 2000) (“[a]n affidavitrhich the plaintiff merely restates the

conclusory allegations of the complaint andide the truth of the affidavits filed by the

11



defendants is insufficient to create an isstiact that would miee summary judgment
inappropriate”) (citing reference omitted). It should further be noted that legal memoranda do
not count as evidence and cannothaut more, create a genuirssue of material fact. Orson,

Inc. v. Miramax Film Corp.79 F.3d 1358, 1372 (3d Cir. 1996).

The Plaintiff alleges that he was the victindiscriminatory discipline. There are two
ways the Plaintiff can overcome a motion $ammary judgment on such a claim. Martin v.

Scott & Stringfellow, InG.643 F.Supp.2d 770, 782 (E.D.Va. 2009). One option is for the

Plaintiff to present “direct or circumstantial eviderthat raises a genuine issue of material fact
as to whether an impermissible factor sashrace motivated the employer’s adverse

employment action.” Tabor v. Freightliner of ClevelaB888 Fed.Appx. 321, 322 (4th Cir. 2010)

(citing Hill v. Lockheed Martin Logistics354 F.3d 277, 284 t(‘4Cir. 2004)). Where there is no

direct evidence of discrimination, the second opisoior the Plaintiff to use the burden-shifting

framework established by the Supre@wmurt in McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. GreeNlartin,

643 F.Supp.2d at 782.

Under McDonnell Douglas Corphe Plaintiff must first make a prima facie case of

discrimination. _Merritt v. Gl Dominion Freight Line, In¢601 F.3d 289, 294 (4th Cir. 2010).

The Supreme Court has recogniziedt the wording of the fourgpt test is fact specific.

McDonnell Douglas Corp411 U.S. at 802 n.13. Where disparaeatment in discipline is at

issue, the Fourth Circuit hasltiehat a plaintiff establistsea prima facie case by showing:

(1) that he is a member of the s¥gprotected by Title VII, (2) that the
prohibited conduct in which he engalg@as comparable in seriousness to
misconduct of employees outside thetpcted class, and (3) that the
disciplinary measures enforced agaimsn were more severe than those
enforced against other employees.

12



Cook v. CSX Transp. Corp88 F.2d 507, 511 (4th Cir. 199@)jting Moore v. City of

Charlotte 754 F.2d 1100, 1105-06 (4th Cir. 1985)). See Hisge v. Freightliner, LLC---

F.3d---, 2011 WL 1206658, at *11 (4th Cir. 2010nce the Plaintiff establishes a prima facie
case of disparate treatmetite “burden of productiothen shifts to the eptoyer to articulate a
legitimate, non-discriminatory giification for its allegedly dicriminatory action.”_Merriit601

F.3d at 294 (citing Tex. Dep’t of Cmty. Affairs v. Burdjrb0 U.S. 248, 253 (1981)). If the

employer is able to do this, the Plaintiff may tliEmonstrate that the “neutral” reasons offered
by the employer are a pretext for discrimination. Mem@l F.3d at 294.
ANALYSIS

|. The Plaintiff Has Consistently Failed Eollow the Scheduling Order and the Local Rules

Fortunately, this Court is noften confronted with situains where parties file briefs
more than a few days late. The Plaintiff ssRense here, however,uausually late—fifteen
days late. The Plaintiff's first Motion for dxtension of Time was filed ten days after the
fourteen day deadline had elapsed. This first motion was not accompanied by a supporting brief,
as required by the local rules. W.D.Va. Qi.11(c) (providing that[b]riefs need not
accompany motions...for an extensiortiofe to respond to or file pleadingsess the time has
already expired”) (emphasis added). In the body oétimotion, Plaintiff’'s counsel provided a
five sentence justification for his tardinessdbgting that he “inadverhtly did not note the
receipt of Defendant’s Motior.” Mot. for Extension 1. Plairffis counsel further asserted that
he alleged no new facts, thhe Defendant would not be pudjced, and that his motion should
be granted “to meet the ends of justice.” dtd1-2. He then filed a “Motion for Leave to File the

Correct Response” five days later, which one @&ssume is also an implicit Second Motion for

1 W.D.Va. Civ. R. 11(c) provides that “a separate brief is not required where a motion itself contains the legal and
factual argument necessary to support the motion.” It is debatable whether counsel’s Motion falls into this
category.

13



an Extension of Time. Sdd.’s Reply 1-2 (the first two pages appear to be both a motion and
supporting brief for a time extension, setting that reasons for the untimely Response and why
the Court should consider the Plaintiff's Response).

Both the Federal Rules of Civil Procedureldhe Supreme Court have made it clear that
the criteria the District Court is to use in cl@sing whether to grant an extension depends on
whether the motion was made beforeafter the deadline. Fed. Biv. P. 6(b)(1); Lujan v. Nat’l
Wildlife Fed’n, 497 U.S. 871, 895-97 (1990). When the motion comes after the deadline, as both
motions have here, the party filing late msisow both good cause and excusable neglect for the
untimely filing. Lujan 497 U.S. at 896. District Courtsueawide discretion to grant or deny
extensions and the Fourth Circuit prefers thatens be resolved on thienerits. _Choice Hotels

Intern., Inc. v. Goodwin and Boon#l F.3d 469, 471-72 (4th Cir. 1993) (preference for

resolution on the merits); Marryshow v. Flyrg86 F.2d 689, 693 (4th Cir. 1993) (broad

discretion). It should beoted, however, that “excusable negjismot easily demonstrated, nor

was it intended to be.”_Thompson v. E.I. DuPont de Nemours & Co.,/#¢..3d 530, 534 (4th

Cir. 1996).
Although excusable neglect is a “somewhastt concept” and canclude negligent
oversight, there are limits to what a Districtu@®omay accept as excusable neglect. Pioneer Inv.

Servs. Co. v. Brunswick Assocs. Ltd. P'sti®7 U.S. 380, 392-95 (1993).

The determination of whether neglectiscusable is at bottom an equitable
one, taking account of all relevanta@imstances surrounding the party’s
omission, including the danger of prejoelito the nonmoving party, the length
of the delay and its potential impact jowdicial proceedings, the reason for the
delay, including whether it was withindglreasonable control of the movant,
and whether the movant acted in good faith.

Bredell v. Kempthorne?90 Fed.Appx. 564, 565 (4th Cir. 2008) (quoting Pioneer Inv. Servs.

Co, 507 U.S. at 395) (internal ciimreferences and quotation madssitted). In this case, the

14



real prejudice cited by the Defendant is the that he has complied with the deadlines while the
Plaintiff has not, and that this fact should gotunnoticed. Def.’s Resp. in Opp’'n| 4. The
Plaintiff's delay has been unusualbng. In fact, the Defendant ectly points out that it took
the Plaintiff longer to respond to the Motion ffummary Judgment thdre would have had to
answer a complaint. It 3. The original motion haag date was already within the
Scheduling Order’s thirty day window betweenpdisitive motion hearings and trial. Pretrial
Order 2 (“[a]ll Rule 12 and Rule 56 motions must be heard or submitted on briefs no later than
30 days prior to trial”). Because the Defendfled his Motion for Summary Judgment far
enough in advance, it is unlikely that the Clerffice would have had foush the hearing date
back any further, even in spité the Plaintiff's tardiness.

The most important of the excusable negtectsiderations is the reason for the untimely
filing. Thompson 76 F.3d at 534. The reason originallfeoéd by Plaintiff’'s counsel, that he
“inadvertently did not note threceipt of Defendd’s Motion,” does not usually constitute

excusable neglect. Pioneer Inv. Servs, 607 U.S. at 392; Thompson6 F.3d at 533; Mot. for

Extension 1. The fact that Plaintiff's courisedecretary originally filed the wrong document
also falls short of excusable neglextpecially in light of the fathat Plaintiff's counsel admits
that he did not begin preparihis Response until nine days aftee deadline. Pl.’s Reply 1;

Van Horn v. PerrineNo. 90-2142, 1991 WL 4655, at *1 (4@r. Jan. 18, 1991) (attempting to

blame a secretary’s errors for missing deadlidoes not establigfpod cause); Hart v. U.817
F.2d 78, 81 (9th Cir. 1987) (“[s]ecretarial negligence...is chargeable to cunselvhat might
be construed as the Plaintiff’'s Second MotiondonrExtension, Plaintiff's counsel avers that the

main reason he needed an extension was bebausas busy with his duties in the General

’The hearing date was in fact moved back by three weeks and the trial by over three months because of
scheduling conflicts with Plaintiff’s counsel’s commitments in the General Assembly, but not necessarily because of
his late response.
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Assembly. Pl.’s Reply 3. This should notdmnsidered a valid reason for the untimely filings,
especially since Plaintiff saunsel knew or should have known that the General Assembly

would be taking up the issue i@districting in light of theecent Census. Key v. Roberts626

F.Supp.2d 566, 577-78 (E.D.Va. 2009) (being exélgrousy does not qualify as excusable

neglect). _See alsBhoulders v. U.S. Dept. of Agricultyr@78 F.2d 141, 143 (4th Cir. 1989)

(attorney who was a member of the Virgilaneral Assembly and who missed a deadline to
file a claim in federal court could not rebyn Va. Code Ann. § 30-5, which gives General
Assembly members a continuanceight in state court, to éand the deadline). Again, this
explanation does not justify counseféslure to move for an extensidoefore the deadline.
Counsel’s final reason for the deldlyat the two other lawyers ms practice left, is certainly a
sympathetic one. Although perhaps a bit cruel, this is not something many courts have

considered to be excusable neglect. See,Rianeer Inv. Servs. Cd07 U.S. at 398 (“[w]e

give little weight to the fadhat counsel was experiencing uphaan his law practice at the

time”); Morris-Belcher v. Housing Atibrity of City of Winston-SalepNo. 1:04cv255, 2005

WL 1423592, at *4 (M.D.N.C. June 17, 2005) (findith@t an attorney’s handling cases for a
disbarred lawyer and having an unmanageable el a result did hoonstitute excusable
neglect, especially since that attorney faileéxplain why he did not move for an extension
before the deadline).

Nonetheless, it has been recognized that Bisfrourts have widdiscretion in granting
extensions and the appellate courts will onlyerse for an abuse of that discretion. Marryshow
986 F.2d at 693. In a fairly recgmiblished opinion, it was notedatth‘the liberal spirit of the
rules...has always been followed in the United &dddistrict Court for tb Western District of

Virginia.” Cornett v. Weisenburged54 F.Supp.2d 544, 549 (W.D.Va. 2006). Fed. R. Civ. P.
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16(f)(1)(c) authorizes the Coud impose a wide range of samets for non-compliance with the
Scheduling Order. The Court’s options in@utbt considering the brief or treating the non-

compliance as civil contempt meriting a fine. $&ek v. Morgan’s Foods, Inc270 F.3d 590,

595-96 (8th Cir. 2001) (Fed. R.\CiP. 16(f) permits a Court to impose a fine payable to the

Court); Rutledge v. Town of Chathaio. 4:10cv35, 2010 WL 4791840, at * 2 (W.D.Va. Nov.

18, 2010) (refusing to consideretipro se plaintiff's untimely Igf), aff'd per curiam sub nom.

Rutledge v. RoaghiNo. 10-2310, 2011 WL 755622 (4th Cir. M4, 2011); Lederer v. Hargraves

Tech. Corp.256 F.Supp.2d 467, 469-70 (W.D.N.C. 2003) (Coeiused to consider a party’s
late response brief where the expation for the delay was meradvertence). In light of the
Fourth Circuit’s preference that its District Ctauresolve cases on their merits, this Court has
considered the Plaintiff's Respadut holds Plaintiff's counseti civil contempt for its very

late filing. Choice Hotels Intern., Inc1 F.3d at 471-72 (preference for resolution on the

merits); Fed R. Civ. P. 16(f)(1)(C); Pretriald@r 1-2 (explaining motion deadlines). The Court
further holds Plaintiff's counséh contempt for his failure tootice his Motion for an Extension
of Time for a hearing. Fed. R. Civ. P. 16(f)(1)(Eretrial Order 2 (setting out the movant’s
obligation to notice his motion for a hearing).r Boese two violations of the Scheduling Order
the Court imposes a five hundred dollar forePlaintiff’'s counsel.

Il. The Plaintiff Has Sued a Proper Defendant

Although perhaps more appropriately broughtrup motion to dismiss, the Defendant’s
preliminary argument in his summary judgment mofis that he is not the Plaintiff’'s employer
for Title VII purposes and thus is not the proper party here. Def.’s Br. in Supp. 6. The
Defendant would be correct if this were an indixal capacity suit, but is not. The Defendant

cites Huff v. Southwest Virginia Reqg’l Jail Autfar the proposition that the Defendant is the

17



wrong party regardless of whetheriBesued in his individual orfficial capacity. Def.’s Br. in

Supp. 6 n.1 (citing Huff v. Southwegirginia Reg’l Jail Auth, No. 1:08cv00041, 2009 WL

395392, at *6 (W.D.Va. Feb. 17, 2009)). Specificalhe Defendant appesato rely on a two
sentence paragraph from the Hadise which explains:

The court also is not persuadedHhyff's argument that because these
defendants were suedhnth their individualand official capacities, her Title
VII claim against them should not be dissed. This is because the “official
capacity” to which Huff refers is extly the capacity that the Lissaaurt
found insufficient to confeliability under Title VII.

Id. (citing Lissau v. Southern Food Serv., |59 F.3d 177 (4th Cir. 1998)). The Ha@burt

only cited_Lissawgenerally for the above proposition. Although Hsfpersuasive, it is not

binding upon this Court. Séeasperini v. Center for Humanities, In§18 U.S. 415, 430 n.10

(1996) (each district judge “sialone and renders decisions not binding on the others,” even
within the same judicial district). In the caséat, there is no indication that the Plaintiff is
attempting to hold Philip Broadfoot personally lialbbr Title VII violations. For example, in
the Complaint the Plaintiff demands a deatary judgment, compensatory damages of
$250,000, other “appropriate reimbursement,” andtti@Court retain jurisdiction over this
matter to ensure compliance with Title VII. Compl. 4. This is not the sort of relief typically
sought from an individual defendarfurthermore, the Complainbtes the Defendant’s role as
Chief of Police. Compl. 1.

Although the Fourth Circuit has made it clézait supervisors cannot be sued in their
individual capacities under Title VII, this does ma¢an that the Plaintiff in the case at bar has

sued the wrong Defendant. Lissd%9 F.3d at 181. See alsoy v. Baltimore Police Dept.

326 F.Supp.2d 682, 687 (D.Md. 2004), aff'd per curia@0 Fed.Appx. 465 (4th Cir. 2005). A

supervisor can be a proper defendant in a Titlesvt where he is sued in his capacity as an

18



agent of the employer. Seknson v. Clinch Cnty. Bd. of Edu@31 F.3d 821, 827 (11th Cir.

2000) (“[t]he only proper individdalefendants in a Title VII action would be supervisory

employees in their capacity agents of the employer”); Mahe v. Shenandoah Cnty. Dept. of

Soc. Servs.No. 5:04-cv-114, 2005 WL 1902857, at *2 (WMa. Aug. 9, 2005) (noting that, in
Title VII suits, Lissawnly stands for the proposition thatpervisors cannot be sued in their
individual capacities and himig that this would not precludsficial capacity suits, but

ultimately deciding the issue ather grounds); Zakeri v. Olivet9 F.Supp.2d 553, 556

(E.D.Va. 1998) (although the Four@hrcuit has not decided the igswther circuits have held
that a plaintiff can recover under Title VII by naming supervisors as agents of the employer).
While this is not precisely the same principldfas individual/official capacity distinction for the
purposes of sovereign immunity or 8 1983 claiitnis, its conceptual blood brother. Compare

Busby v. City of Orlandp931 F.2d 764, 772 (11th Cir. 1991) (discussing the relationship

between official and individual pacity in the context of lawsts brought under both 42 U.S.C.
§ 1983 and Title VIl and concluding that “[w]e ki the proper method for a plaintiff to recover
under Title VIl is by suing the employer, eith®r naming the supervisory employees as agents

of the employer or by naming the employer directly”) vifiil v. Michigan Dept. of State

Police 491 U.S. 58, 71 (1989) (for Eleventh Amendtaurposes, a suit against a state official
in his official capacity isno different from a suit against the State itself) &satucky v.
Graham 473 U.S. 159, 165-66 (1985) @8 1983 claim, an officialapacity suit is “an action
against an entity of which an officer is an ageanttl “the real party in interest is the entity”)
(citing references omitted).

The Defendant offers another casarfrthis District, Session v. Andersdor the

proposition that the individualfficial capacity distinction i®ne without a difference for the
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purposes of Title VII._Session v. Anders®io. 7:09¢cv138, 2010 WL 519839, at *2 (W.D.Va.

Feb. 11, 2010). In Sessiom plaintiff brought a Title VII claim against a county school board
and the superintendent of the coustyools in her official capacity. ldt *1. The Court
dismissed the claim against the superintendenling that she was not the plaintiff's employer

under Title VII. Id.at *2. In_Sessioms in_Malonethe county board or department was a

named defendant and so remained after the @@mtissed the claims against the supervisor.

CompareSession2010 WL 519839, at *1 witMalone 2005 WL 1902857, at *2. The Malone

Court best explained the rationddehind its ruling when it commeat that “the Title VII claim
against [the supervisor], in his official capacity, is redundadtmay be dismissed since the
claim is also asserted againstdtcounty department].”_Malon2005 WL 1902857, at *2.
Since the Plaintiff’'s agent/official capacity sigif in essence, an aati against the City of
Danville, the Plaintiff has sued a proper defendant.

I1l. The Plaintiff Has Produced No Evidence That His Discharge Was Racially Motivated

In his Response, the Plaintiff makes nontren of burden-shiftig, but instead asserts
that he “has put forth, at a mmum, circumstantial evidence fphhe Defendant]'s discriminatory
intent and that an impermissible factockuas race motivated the adverse employment

decision.” Pl.’s Resp. 4. This is thexed motive language from Desert Palace,, 1589 U.S.

at 101-02. Before discussing the evidence the Hiamats put forth, it is useful to review what
constitutes “circumstantial evidence” under Desert Padadats Fourth Cingit counterpart, Hill

v. Lockheed Martin Logistics Management, IiR54 F.3d 277 (4th Cir. 2004). No matter the

theory under which the Plaintiff proceeds:

...the ultimate question in every emapiment discrimination case involving a
claim of disparate treatment is whet the plaintiff was the victim of

intentional discrimination. To demonseatuch an intent to discriminate on
the part of the employer, an indivalalleging disparate treatment based upon
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a protected trait must produce su#ict evidence upon which one could find
that the protected trait actually thated the employer’s decision. The
protected trait must have actuatiiayed a role in the employer’s
decisionmaking process and had a aeieative influence on the outcome.

Hill, 354 F.3d at 286 (internal citing referencasytgtion marks, and punctuation omitted). See

alsoAdams v. The Trustees of the Univ. of N.C. WilmingteraF.3d---, 2011 WL 1289054, at

*7 (4th Cir. 2011). To be clear, Desert Palaod _Hill did not give plaintiffs the option of

proceeding under a truncated version of McDonnell Dougleseby they could survive

summary judgment simply by establishing a pria@e case. Diamond v. Colonial Life & Acc.

Ins. Co, 416 F.3d 310, 317-18 (4th Cir. 2005). If tixagre so, no plairiti would present his

Title VII claim under the McDonnell Dougldeamework because there would be a much easier

option available to him. Icat 319 n.5 (Desert Paladel not nullify McDonnell Douglas By

way of example, courts have found that pléisthave proffered citemstantial evidence of
racial motives where the plaintiff has offeredtstics, racially chargecomments in connection
with employment, or even suspicious timing ie ttontext of unlawful retaliation cases. Austin

v. Rappahannock Area Alcohol Safety Action Prograim. 3:09cv200, 2009 WL 3669734, at

*2 (E.D.Va. Nov. 4, 2009) (comments angpicious timing); Mulvey v. Bellsouth

Telecommunications, IncNo. 2:08-3547, 2010 WL 3782852, at *11 (D.S.C. July 12, 2010)

(suspicious timing); Martin v. Alumax of South Carolina, Jr880 F.Supp.2d 723, 735-36

(D.S.C. 2005) (comments); E@C. v. Jordan Graphics, In@69 F.Supp. 1357, 1383

(W.D.N.C. 1991) (statistics).

As evidence of racial motives, the Pl#inpoints to his assertion that “he was
investigated by his immediategervisor and was cleared afyawrongdoing” and that “[i]t was
only after some time, did [the Defendant] subjéwe Plaintiff] to @ntinuous questioning, only

to look for a pretext to fire [the Plaintiff].”_Ict 5. Both parties admit that the Defendant
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continued looking into the shootirdter this point, but the Plaifitappears to contend that this
was not an “investigation” but rather “contingsoguestioning...to look foa pretext.”_Compare
Id. at 5 withAff. of Def. 6. Both parties also agréhat the Defendant initially supported the
Plaintiff's actions in the shooting, but latafter further “inestigation”/’continuous
guestioning,” the Defendant switched his position. Compéreof Pl. 2-3 with Aff. of Def. 3-

6. Itis the agreement over the substance @aftwhcurred, not the artificial difference in

labeling, that matters here. Séards Co., In¢.761 F.2d at 210; Kinse$21 F.Supp.2d at 306;

Harmon 560 F.Supp. at 916.

The Defendant devotes three pages of his affidaexplaining the reason for his change in
positions. Aff. of Def. 3-6; Hill354 F.3d at 293 (in a discriminatory discipline case, the Court
must look at the facts as they appeared tgénson making the decisiondascipline). _See also

Gibson v. Fluor Daniel Servs. Corg81 Fed.Appx. 177, 179 (4th CR008) (“an employer who

fires an employee under the mistaken but honest impression that the employee violated a work
rule is not liable for discriminatory condtic(citing references omitted). Based on the
information available to him the day he meted from vacation, the Defendant supported the
Plaintiff. Id.at 2-3. Later that same day, howevke, Defendant began to second guess his
decision. _Idat 3. Over the course of the nexbtand a half weeks, the inquiry into the
shooting continued, during which time the Defemdaet with the Plaintiff to question him
about the incident, directedgaoup of officers to conduct antérnal investigation, and twice
visited the residence whereetBhooting took place. ldt 3-5. At the culmination of this
inquiry, the Defendant believed heade a mistake in initiallgupporting the Plaintiff, ldat 5.

The Plaintiff, on the other hand, asséhigt “[a]fter a thorough and complete

investigation,” Lieutenant Eanes “concluded that | hetetd properly.” Affof Pl. 2. “Some
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time after that, complaints were made reljag the shooting,” including one by a city
councilman._Id.At the hearing, Plaintiff’'s counsel commented that “it was okay until there was
a public furor about it.” The Plaintiff specificalglleges that because of that pressure, the
Defendant changed his position, found Lieuterigantes’ investigation to be erroneous, and
“stated publicly that [the Plaintiff] had not acted properly.” Tchis resulted in the Plaintiff

being discharged “after beimjeared of any wrongdoing by tikefendant” while Lieutenant
Eanes, who is white, was not punished at‘allen though [the Defendant] found his report to be
erroneous.”_ldat 3. For the purposes of comparing igikigary action to establish pretext or
discriminatory motive, however, innocently praffeg a report that tusiout to be erroneous

differs significantly from providingntentionally misleading informatioh.Bell v. Town of Port

Royal 586 F.Supp.2d 498, 510-13 (D.S.C. 2008) (teatad police officer did not offer

sufficient circumstantial evidence under Hilhere he showed othefficers were disciplined
differently, but those officers hatbt engaged in the same type of misconduct as the terminated
officer). Courts consistently find that an employee who intentionally gives misleading
information to his employer has not met his emypl’s expectations arfths given the employer

a legitimate, non-discriminatory reasto terminate the employee. Searrett v. Langley

Federal Credit Unignl21 F.Supp.2d 887, 901 (E.D.Va. 2009ing to one’s employer is a

legitimate, non-discriminatory rationale for terminating employment); Anderson v. Duke Energy
Corp, No. 3:06cv399, 2008 WL 4596238, at *11 (WNDC. Oct. 14, 2008) (dishonest employee
was not meeting her employelégitimate expectations).

Not only has the Plaintiff failed to rebut tbefendant’s assertion that he intentionally

provided misleading information during the interimadestigation, the Platiff almost concedes

* From the Defendant’s Affidavit, it appears that the reason Lieutenant Eanes’ report and photographs were
erroneous was because the Lieutenant was getting his information from the Plaintiff. See Aff. of Def. 2-3.
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the point implicitly. _See\ff. of Pl. 3 (“No action was taken against Lieutenant Eanes, even
though [the Defendant] fourtds report to be erroneous”). \&it confronted with this at the
hearing, Plaintiff's counsel insisted thataitigh the Plaintiff never denied the Defendant’s
allegation in his affidavit, he never admittedither. At any rate, Plaintiff’'s counsel advised
that the Plaintiff was, as of the hearing, degyihat he misled the Defendant. Under Fed. R.

Civ. P. 56(e), however, this denial in oral arguimenoo little too late._ Berckeley Inv. Group

455 F.3d at 201; Beverley04 F.3d at 246.

The Plaintiff avers that it was only after “serime” that the Defendant subjected him to
“continuous questioning,” but the Plaintiff admitet, following the shooting, he was out of the
office for training and does not dispute thatwes unavailable to meet with the Defendant at
that time. Aff. of Pl. 2 (out on training); Afbf Def. 4 (the Plaitiff was deployed with the
National Guard for two weeks when the Defant returned to the office on JunéL1
Furthermore, although the Plaintiff characterittess questioning as “continuous,” he offers no
other instances of questioning aftéeutenant Eanes’ investigation aside from the two in late
June/early July, which were a week apart frame another. Affof Def. 4-5. Although
doubtful, the Plaintiff may haveffered sufficient circumstantiavidence that pressure from
local politicians possibly played a role in the Btdf’'s discharge. Aff. of PI. 2 (city councilman
publicly complained about the shooting at a @tyuncil meeting and “[ssequent to pressure
placed on him by certain individuals, defendaated that the investigation was erroneous and
stated publicly that [th@laintiff] had not actegroperly”). But sedill, 354 F.3d at 291 (“an
employer will be liable not for the improperly motivated person who merely influences the

decision, but for the person who in reality mattesdecision”);_ Cruz v. Town of South Boston

No. 4:06cvl, 2006 WL 3760140, at *4 (W.D.M2ec. 19, 2006) (“the burden rests on the
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plaintiff to prove that the person who allegedtted with discriminatory intent was the actual
decisionmaker”) (Kiser, J.). Mbimportantly, however, he s@ffered no evidence whatsoever,
circumstantial or direct, that race was a motive in his termination. As the Defendant astutely
points out, termination because of political gtee, while certainly unfair, is not actionable
under Title VII. Hill, 354 F.3d at 286 (the protected traust have motivated the adverse
employment action); Def.’s Br. in Supp. 14.

IV. The Plaintiff Has Not Made a Prima Facie Case UhigDonnell Douglas

In light of the Plaintiff's failure to prodie any evidence that race was a motivating factor
in this disciplinary action, his second optionwd be to use the burden-shifting method of the

McDonnell Douglasase._Laber v. Harvey38 F.3d 404, 430 (4th Cir. 2006); Mart643

F.Supp.2d at 782. Although the Plaintiff's briefgpaar to indicate that he is proceeding under
the mixed motive framework, at the hearing Blaintiff seemed to abandon the mixed motive
framework in favor of the burden-shifting frameworn an effort to give the Plaintiff the

benefit of the doubt, thethe Court includes an awyals under McDonnell Douglas

Unfortunately, the Plaintiff is unable to ediab a prima facie case using the discriminatory

discipline test the Fourt8ircuit formulated in Cook v. CSX Transp. Cognd invoked very

recently in_Hoyle v. Freightliner, LLCHoyle ---F.3d---, 2011 WL 1206658, at *11; Cqd88

F.2d at 511.

There is no question that theaRitiff meets the first of Cod& three prongs. Coole88
F.2d at 511 (first element is that the Plaintiff imnamber of a protected class). As to the second
prong, the Plaintiff contends that the six othetamces in which the Defendant has terminated
employees for dishonesty during an internal itigesion were not comparable in seriousness to

the Plaintiff's situation._1d.Of those six employees, five were white and one was black. Aff. of
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Def. 7. Their underlying misconduincluded sending harassingr&ils, alerting a citizen that
the police had obtained a search warrant foproperty, taking money from an office collection,
covering up a single car accident involving a potingser, and providing false information in
reports of investigation. IdAt the hearing, the Plaintift@mpted to take the focus off of
whether he lied to the Dafdant by arguing that the underlgi conduct mentioned above is
“criminal” and significantly more serious thahooting a dog. While ¢hargument that sending
harassing e-mails or covering up an accidentlhnrg a police cruiser is more grievous than
shooting someone’s pet is astounding, it also failddress the real isshere—Ilying to a boss
or supervisor about a work-relatedttea The Defendant acknowledges that:

In several of the incidents above, wiihe conduct itself may not have been

egregious on its own, and may have amedyulted in a reprimand or time off

without pay had the employee been faght about his/her conduct, the fact

that the employee gave false informatduring the course of an internal

investigation or tried thide the conduct, led the employee’s termination.
Id. As to both underlying conduct and, more intaotly, attendant dishonesty, the Court finds
that the Plaintiff's misconduct &t least as serious as the grior instances offered by the
Defendant, if not more seriotisan a few of them. Sé&eabor, 388 Fed.Appx. at 322 (“precise
equivalence in culpability between employéesot the ultimate question...comparison can be
made in light of the harm causedthreatened to the victim epciety, and the culpability of the
offender”) (citing reference omitted); Codk88 F.2d at 511 (holding that only discipline
imposed for like offenses should be comparetirasting “the reality that the comparison will
never involve precisely the sarset of work-related offenses ocdng over the same period of
time and under the same sets of circumstangeting reference omitted). It should also be

noted that this is not a case where the Defenaasmthanged his justification for the termination

at any point._Comparéuly 1 Letter 1 withAff. of Def. 6. See als&.E.O.C. v. Sears Roebuck
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and Co, 243 F.3d 846, 852-53 (4th Cir. 2001) (the fihett an employer has given shifting
explanations for an adverse employment actigergerally probative of ptext). The Plaintiff
offers one more instance of employee momtuct, specifically that the Defendant found
Lieutenant Eanes’ internal invegation report to be erroneouéff. of PI. 3. As discussed
above in Section Ill, Lieutenant Eanes’ condifat,could even be chacterized as misconduct,
was not comparable in seriousness to the Plaintiff’s.

For the six instances of discipline that wergikir to the facts in this case, the Plaintiff
cannot meet Codk third prong, “that the disciplinary maags enforced against him were more
severe than those enforced agaithose other employees.” HoyleF.3d---, 2011 WL 1206658,
at*11; Cook 988 F.2d at 511. Those six other employees fired, just like the Plaintiff.

Aside from the aforementioned Lieutenant Eaneslent, the Plaintiff iers no other instances
of misconduct where the sanction imposed by the st was any different. The Plaintiff has
therefore failed to establish a prima facie aafsgiscriminatory discipline.

V. The Plaintiff Has Not Shown That the Hsved Reason for the Discharge Was a Pretext

The Defendant admits that he initially supported the Plaintiff, but upon further
investigation he changed his gas. Aff. of Def. 3-5. Tl Plaintiff contends that the
Defendant’s explanation of that change in positibat further inquiry stwed that the Plaintiff
had misled the chief and his officers about wdwurred, is a pretext for discrimination. Pl.’s
Resp. 5. Progressing to the preétexalysis presumes, of coursiggt the Plaintiff has made a

prima facie case under McDonnell Douglaich he has not dofeCook 988 F.2d at 511.

* The pretext analysis is only applicable to cases using McDonnell Douglas’ burden-shifting framework. See
Diamond, 416 F.3d at 318 (distinguishing the two tests). Because the Desert Palace-style cases require some
showing of discriminatory motive at the outset, a separate pretext inquiry would be redundant under that mixed-
motive framework.
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There is no question that the reason the Defaraféers, that the Plaintiff intentionally
misled him, is an acceptablace-neutral explanation. GarretP1 F.Supp.2d at 901. Assuming
for the sake of discussion that the Pldiritas established a prima facie case under McDonnell
Douglas he has still failed to demonstrate race-dgsetext. The key question is whether the
Plaintiff has offered any evidence that thedelant did not believe that the Plaintiff
intentionally misled him whehe made the decision to terrate the Plaintiff._Holland v.

Washington Homes, Inc487 F.3d 208, 215 (4th Cir. 2007). TRkintiff offers some evidence

that the Defendant decided toefihim after the City Council pssed the issue of the shooting,
prompting the continuing inquiry to look for aason for dismissal. Aff. of Pl. 2-3. Although
probative of termination because of politicalgmere, this evidence has nothing to do with firing
the Plaintiff because of race discrimination. show pretext, it is incumbent upon the Plaintiff

to show that the Defendant’s explanation is a prétediscrimination. SeeBonds v. Leavitt

629 F.3d 369, 386 (4th Cir. 2011) (Title VII plaintiffsust show that the defendant’s reasons for
the adverse employment actitwmere not the actuakasons...giv[ing] rise to a reasonable

inference that [the proteaxd trait] was the real ason”); Love-Lane v. Martim355 F.3d 766, 788

(4th Cir. 2004) (stressing that the pretext nhestelated to the defenats protected trait).
Merely showing that thBefendant has proffereme sort of pretext is insfiicient in a Title
VIl case. _Love-Lane355 F.3d at 788.

The Plaintiff also offers the example of Liendmt Eanes as evidence of pretext. Aff. of
PIl. 3. As discussed in Section lll, Lieuteh&anes’ conduct was not comparable to the
Plaintiff's, thus the lack of dciplinary action against the Lieutenant cannot help the Plaintiff

establish a pretext for discrimination. B&B6 F.Supp.2d at 510-11 (under McDonnell Douglas

framework, terminated police officer’s evidencatttwo other officers were not disciplined as
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harshly did not demonstrate pretext wheredbnduct of the othéwo officers was not
comparable to that of the terminated officer).

VI. The Court Declines to Exercise Its Supmlental Jurisdiction Ovehe Virginia Human

Rights Act Claim

In addition to his Title VII claim, the Rintiff alleges that the conduct of which he
complains violates the Virginia Human Rightst. Va. Code Ann. § 2.2-3901. Specifically,
“an employer’s violation of a féeral statute or regation prohibiting discrimination is an

unlawful practice under Virginia law.” Pl.’s Resp. 5. See @smes v. Canadian Am. Transp.,

Inc., 72 F.Supp.2d 629, 634 (W.D.Va. 1999) (“[tMEIRA essentially makes any federal
violation a violation of Virginidaw as well”) (Kiser, J.). Hang determined that the Defendant
is entitled to summary judgment on the Titl# ™Maim, the Court does not need to address the
possibility that the Defendant violated the steuman Rights Act. The Plaintiff's Title VII

claim invokes this Court’s federal gstion jurisdiction._Graham v. Frarnko. 88-3196, 1989

WL 100668, at *1 (4th Cir. Aug. 28, 1989). Whee ttase was filed, both piees were Virginia
residents, which precludes them from invoking @ourt’s diversity jurisdiction. 28 U.S.C. §
1332; Civil Cover Sheet, May 21, 2010, ECF No. 1Hb{ging that both pa#s are residents of
the City of Danville). Withouthe Title VII claim, then, the Plaintiff has no means of keeping

his claim in federal court. Sé#aybright v. Frederick Cnty528 F.3d 199, 209-210 (4th Cir.

2008) (District Court properly déned to exercise supplemenjafisdiction over state law tort
claims once it granted summary judgment to the defendants on the federal claims).

CONCLUSION

TheCourtGRANTS the Plaintiff's Motions for an Extension of Time, BHiIOL DS

Plaintiff's counsel irCIVIL CONTEMPT for his two violations of the Scheduling Order and
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IMPOSES A FINE of FIVE HUNDRED DOLLARS upon Plaintiff's counsel. Because the
Plaintiff has neither offered any evidence ate discrimination nor established a prima facie
case, the CouRANT S the Defendant’s Motion for Summadudgment on the Title VII claim
andDECLINES to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over the Plaintiff's Virginia Human
Rights Act claim. The Clerk of the Court is directedi®&M | SS this case from the docket.

ENTERED this 13 day of May, 2011.

gJackson L. Kiser
Senior Unite&tates District Judge
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